No. 74464-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.,

Appellant/Cross-Respondent,

v.

EAST BELLEVUE COMMUNITY COUNCIL,

Respondent/Cross-Appellant, and

CITY OF BELLEVUE,

Respondents.

PUGET SOUND ENERGY, INC.'S OPENING BRIEF

Erin L. Anderson, WSBA #23282 Rita V. Latsinova, WSBA #24447 Sara A. Leverette, WSBA #44183 STOEL RIVES LLP 600 University Street, Suite 3600 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 624-0900 Attorneys for Appellant

I. INTRODUCTION

Puget Sound Energy ("PSE") appeals the King County Superior Court's decision, which granted the East Bellevue Community Council ("EBCC") virtually unlimited adjudicative powers to disapprove conditional use permits ("CUPs") within its territory without any regard to the controlling law or the evidence developed by the fact-finder. While EBCC may opt out of Bellevue's land use code, it has no power to write its own land use code or deny permits based on criteria not found in the existing Bellevue City Code or Comprehensive Plan. RCW 35.14.040. EBCC Resolution 550 exceeds the authority granted by RCW 35.14.040 and should be vacated.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1) The trial court erred in entering the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law upholding the EBCC's disapproval of PSE's CUP Application, CP 489-90.
- 2) The trial court erred in dismissing PSE's Land Use Petition, CP 489-90.

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Whether, under RCW 36.70C.130(1)(e), EBCC's Resolution No. 550 exceeded the authority granted to it by RCW 35.14.040.

Assignments of Error 1 and 2.

2. Whether, under RCW 36.70C.130(1)(b) and (d), EBCC's Resolution No. 550 is a clearly erroneous application of the law pertaining

to the electrical utility CUPs in the City of Bellevue given the facts found by the Hearing Examiner.

Assignments of Error 1 and 2.

3. Whether, under RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c), EBCC's Resolution No. 550 is supported by substantial evidence in light of the entire record.

Assignments of Error 1 and 2.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The City of Bellevue is the fifth fastest-growing city in Washington. PSE has a statutory duty to supply Bellevue residents and businesses with safe and reliable power. RCW 80.28.010(2). PSE does this by connecting high-voltage transmission lines to substations, where voltage is reduced. AR 81.2 Distribution lines from the substations carry power to homes and businesses. *Id.* If a transmission line is connected to a single substation, power will stop if the line needs maintenance or is taken down, *e.g.*, by a falling tree. *See, e.g.*, AR 1830. The industry addresses this problem by "looping" substations so that each substation is connected to at least two transmission lines. *Id.*

State of Washington, 2015 Population Trends at 18 (Sept. 2015), http://ofm.wa.gov/pop/april1/poptrends.pdf.

² The Administrative Record in this case is referenced using the pagination ("AR") used by the trial court. Designated Clerks Papers are referenced using ("CP"). The official record of proceedings is designated ("RP").

Three of Bellevue's electrical substations (College, Lake Hills, and Phantom Lake) are each served by a single transmission line. AR 1768-1959; AR 1829-31. After studying this deficiency and extensive public input, PSE proposed to loop the Lake Hills substation with the Phantom Lake substation. See AR 780-82; AR 2168 at ¶ 3; AR 2176 at ¶ 27. In 2011, PSE applied for a land use conditional use permit ("CUP") and shoreline conditional use permit ("SCUP") to construct a new 2.89 mile, 115 kV overhead transmission line connecting the Lake Hills and the Phantom Lake substations ("Lake Hills Reliability Project"). AR 1722-1959. The proposed line runs along NE 8th Avenue and 148th Avenue NE ("148th Corridor"), the busiest streets among the alternatives considered, thereby eliminating or minimizing impacts to residential neighborhoods. See, e.g., AR 2172 at \P 9. Because many of the trees proposed for removal along 148th Avenue NE are near the end of their lives, the new line maximizes opportunities for mitigation. AR 679 (criteria for route selection); AR 1729-35 (alternative siting analysis).

The City of Bellevue reviewed PSE's CUP application under the State Environmental Policy Act ("SEPA"), chapter 43.21C RCW, and issued a preliminary Mitigated Determination of Non-Significance ("MDNS"). AR 2161-62. The final MDNS was issued after public comment. *Id.* It was not appealed. *Id.* In October 2014, Bellevue's

Development Services Department ("DSD") recommended approval of PSE's CUP Application and an associated shoreline conditional use permit ("SCUP"), if PSE agreed to pay more than \$856,000 in mitigation and accepted 17 categories of conditions. AR 76-285.

Pursuant to the City land use code, PSE's SCUP and CUP applications underwent an open-record hearing before a Hearing Examiner on November 20, 2014. *See* LUC 20.35.327.B; LUC 20.35.340.A; AR 2158-93 (Hearing Examiner's Report). The Hearing Examiner found that PSE had met its burden of showing that a preponderance of the evidence supported approval of its applications under the land use code's decision criteria for electrical utilities, LUC 20.30B.140 and LUC 20.20.255, and recommended approval by the City Council with conditions. AR 2158-93. The Hearing Examiner found, *inter alia*, that:

- A "loop" connecting the two under-utilized substations was needed to improve reliability. With a single line, an entire service area can have a temporary power outage.
- The City's independent consultants drafted the Exponent Electrical Reliability Study, Phase 2 Report ("Electrical Reliability Report"), which specifically recommends additional transmission line feeds to the Phantom Lake and Lake Hills substations.
- PSE initially considered more than three potential routes and ultimately thoroughly reviewed three routes: 148th, 156th, and 164th.

- The 148th route would run along the busiest street, have the least impact on residential neighborhoods, present the best opportunities for mitigation, and be most consistent with preferred locations in LUC 20.20.255.D.2.d.
- The final project will present a "less industrial design presence."
- The project will require removal of a substantial amount of trees and shrubs. MDNS includes a robust replanting and mitigation plan.
- Undergrounding would cost about 10 times more than an overhead line, and the Hearing Examiner lacked the authority to mandate the extraordinary financial participation and commitment it would require.

AR 2158-93 at ¶¶ 3-13, 31-32 (internal quotation marks omitted). In 2015, the City Council passed Ordinance No. 6226 approving the Hearing Examiner's recommendations to approve PSE's CUP and SCUP applications, with conditions. AR 2629-40.

Portions of the proposed new line are located the EBCC's territory. The EBCC's authorizing statute, RCW 35.14.040, provides for the EBCC's review of CUPs within its jurisdiction. On June 24, 2015, the EBCC adopted Resolution No. 550, rejecting the Hearing Examiner's findings and disapproving the Bellevue City Council's approval. AR 3016-21. Resolution No. 550 questioned the operational need for the project, maintained that the project was inconsistent with Bellevue's image as a "City in a Park" and the designation of 148th Avenue as an

"Urban Boulevard," and faulted the Hearing Examiner for failing to consider other routes or undergrounding as alternatives to the proposed new overhead line. *Id.*

PSE brought a Land Use Petition Act ("LUPA") appeal challenging EBCC's Resolution No. 550. CP 1-75. The King County Superior Court ruled that the EBCC lacked jurisdiction to review the SCUP and remanded Resolution No. 550 to the EBCC with directions to remove references to the SCUP. CP 687. The Court then affirmed the EBCC's disapproval of PSE's CUP and dismissed PSE's LUPA petition. CP 486-90. The court concluded that under RCW 35.14.040, the EBCC had near-absolute authority "to approve or disapprove of a conditional use permit for a project within its jurisdiction." CP 489-90. The court referred to this extraordinary authority as a "byproduct of the unusual government structure that exists." Id. at 490. The court also ruled that there was substantial evidence in the record to support EBCC's decision on "mixed questions of fact, law and policy," including the question of the CUP's "consistency with the Comprehensive Plan, its compatibility with the immediate vicinity and whether the proposed electrical utility would succeed in providing needed reliability." Id.

This appeal followed. It was consolidated with the EBCC's appeal of the dismissal of EBCC's disapproval of the SCUP on jurisdictional grounds.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Relevant Standards

1. LUPA Standards of Review

Judicial review of land use decisions is governed by the LUPA, chapter 36.70C RCW. The Superior Court exercises appellate jurisdiction when reviewing a land use decision. *Sunderland Family Treatment Servs. v. City of Pasco*, 107 Wn. App. 109, 117, 26 P.3d 955 (2001). On appeal, the Court of Appeals "stands in the same position as the superior court" and applies the LUPA standards of review to the underlying land-use decision. *Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. Chelan County*, 141 Wn.2d 169, 176, 4 P.3d 123 (2000). The Court of Appeals may grant relief from a land use decision if the petitioner carries its burden of establishing one or more of the six standards in RCW 36.70C.130(1)(a)-(f).

The standards relevant here are:

- (b) The land use decision is an erroneous interpretation of the law, after allowing for such deference as is due the construction of a law by a local jurisdiction with expertise;
- (c) The land use decision is not supported by evidence that is substantial when viewed in light of the whole record before the court;

- (d) The land use decision is a clearly erroneous application of the law to the facts; and
- (e) The land use decision is outside the authority or jurisdiction of the body or officer making the decision.

RCW 36.70C.130(1)(b)-(e).

Under the first standard, the Court of Appeals reviews *de novo* any legal issues, while according deference to the local agency with expertise, which in this case is the Hearing Examiner and Bellevue City Council. RCW 36.70C.130(1)(b). Under the second standard, the Court of Appeals defers to the fact-findings of the highest forum below that exercised its fact-finding authority, which in this case is the Hearing Examiner. Under the third standard, the Court of Appeals applies the law directly to the facts, and overturns the land use decision if it reaches "a definite and firm conviction that the decision maker committed a mistake." *Chinn v. City of Spokane*, 173 Wn. App. 89, 95, 293 P.3d 401 (2013) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

Evidence and any inferences are viewed "in a light most favorable to the party that prevailed in the highest forum exercising fact-finding authority." *Lanzce G. Douglass, Inc. v. City of Spokane Valley*, 154 Wn. App. 408, 415, 225 P.3d 448 (2010) (citing *City of Univ. Place v. McGuire*, 144 Wn.2d 640, 652, 30 P.3d 453 (2001)). "On review of a land use decision that presents mixed questions of law and fact, [the Court of

Appeals] determine[s] the law independently and appl[ies] it to the facts as found by the hearing examiner." *Miller v. City of Bainbridge Island*, 111 Wn. App. 152, 161, 43 P.3d 1250 (2002).

2. CUP Criteria

CUPs are required for activities that, although "allowable in all or some of specified zoning categories, ... due to their particular size or impact potential, require special siting considerations." 5 Wash. State Bar Ass'n, *Real Property Deskbook* § 8.4(2)(a), at 8-11 (2009). CUPs are available only where the regulating authorities previously determined that a given use is permissible. *See id.* Authority to issue CUPs is limited by the standards set forth in the zoning ordinance. *Lund v. City of Tumwater*, 2 Wn. App. 750, 755, 472 P.2d 550 (1970); *Evergreen State Builders, Inc. v. Pierce County*, 9 Wn. App. 973, 977, 516 P.2d 775 (1973) ("[W]hile the Board of County Commissioners has the power to authorize a change in land use administratively via the unclassified use permit, that authority is limited to the specific uses and standards denominated in the pertinent zoning code section.").

In Bellevue, these criteria must be met for issuance of a CUP:

- A. The conditional use is consistent with the Comprehensive Plan; and
- B. The design is compatible with and responds to the existing or intended character, appearance, quality of development and physical

characteristics of the subject property and immediate vicinity; and

. . . .

D. The conditional use will not be materially detrimental to uses or property in the immediate vicinity of the subject property....

LUC 20.30B.140.

Additional criteria apply to a CUP for electrical utility facilities:

- 3. The applicant shall demonstrate that an operational need exists that requires the location or expansion at the proposed site;
- 4. The applicant shall demonstrate that the proposed electrical utility facility improves reliability to the customers served and reliability of the system as a whole, as certified by the applicant's licensed engineer;
- 5. For proposals located on sensitive sites as referenced in Figure UT.5a of the Utility Element of the Comprehensive Plan, the applicant shall demonstrate:
 - a. Compliance with the alternative siting analysis requirements of subsection D of this section;
 - b. Where feasible, the preferred site alternative identified in subsection D.2.d of this section is located within the land use district requiring additional service and residential land use districts are avoided when the proposed new or expanded electrical utility facility serves a non-residential land use district;

LUC 20.20.255.E.

3. Statutory Powers of Community Councils

Whenever unincorporated territory is annexed by a city, a community municipal corporation (i.e., "community council") may be organized for all or part of the territory annexed. RCW 35.14.010, .020. Community councils "have no inherent powers and possess only such powers as are expressly conferred by statute or implied as necessary in aid of those powers which have been expressly conferred." Sammanish Cmty. Council v. City of Bellevue, 108 Wn. App. 46, 49, 29 P.3d 728 (2001) (citation omitted). The powers of community councils in Washington are set forth in chapter 35.14 RCW. RCW 35.14.040 authorizes community councils to approve or disapprove the "adoption, approval, enactment, amendment, granting or authorization by the city council or commission of any ordinance or resolution applying to land, buildings or structures within any community council corporation" with respect to: (1) comprehensive plans; (2) zoning ordinances; (3) CUPs, special exceptions, or variances; (4) subdivision ordinances; (5) subdivision plats; or (6) planned unit developments. These powers include both legislative (e.g., comprehensive plan approval) and adjudicatory (e.g., CUP review) functions.

However, the legislature did not delegate independent rulemaking authority to community councils. See RCW 35.14.040-.050. Community

councils can only approve or disapprove rules already enacted by the city council. *Id.* In *City of Bellevue v. E. Bellevue Cmty. Council*, 138 Wn.2d 937, 983 P.2d 602 (1999), the Washington Supreme Court upheld EBCC's disapproval of a rezone in a Crossroads subarea. The hearing examiner had recommended, and the City Council approved, a rezone "to the highest density allowed under density ranges designated in the comprehensive plan for the areas." *Id.* at 941. The EBCC believed that lower densities within the range were more appropriate and disapproved the rezone. The Supreme Court held:

RCW 35.14.040 provides a community council with authority to independently determine whether to approve or disapprove land use legislation affecting territory within its jurisdiction, in keeping with the Legislature's intent to allow local level decision-making. Therefore, where there is room for exercise of discretion as to whether particular land use regulations should be applied to property within the municipal corporation, the community council must be allowed to exercise that discretion to carry out the legislative intent underlying RCW 35.14.040.

Id. at 945 (emphasis added) (with respect to legislation rather than permits).

In subsequent cases Washington courts further clarified the scope of community council authority. *See City of Bellevue v. E. Bellevue Cmty. Mun. Corp.*, 119 Wn. App. 405, 410, 81 P.3d 148 (2003) (community councils cannot appeal the application of ordinances outside their

geographic area; thus "East Bellevue cannot bring actions ... in superior court that do not fall within its explicit grant of authority"); see also Sammamish Cmty. Mun. Corp. v. City of Bellevue, 107 Wn. App. 686, 691, 27 P.3d 684 (2001) (RCW 35.14.030 indicates legislative intent "that the City—not the community councils—control funding for the community councils and thus, is empowered to determine the councils' necessary expenses"); Sammamish Cmty. Mun. Corp., 108 Wn. App. 46 at 57-58 (some ordinances—such as an ordinance concerning the calculation of traffic volume and capacity—are not "zoning ordinances" community councils can disapprove; nor do community councils have authority to approve or disapprove land use applications outside their geographic areas).

B. The Trial Court Erred in Upholding EBCC's Disapproval of PSE's CUP³

The trial court failed to recognize that EBCC's disapproval of PSE's CUP was based on three fundamental errors: (1) RCW 35.14.040 grants community councils unbounded authority to "approve or disapprove" a CUP based on criteria *not found* in Bellevue's Comprehensive Plan or land use code; (2) an "Urban Boulevard"

³ PSE does not dispute Resolution No. 550, Exhibit A, paragraph 7. Paragraphs 1 and 2 provide EBCC commentary but lack a legal argument. PSE reserves the right to respond to any argument in EBCC's response that is based on paragraphs 1, 2, or 7.

designation provided a legal basis for prohibiting the installation of transmission lines along the 148th Corridor; and (3) the EBCC disapproval power allowed it to ignore substantial record evidence and undisputed findings by the Hearing Examiner. This is not the law.

A community council's delegated power to "approve or disapprove" local decisions within its jurisdiction is not absolute. It does not include the power to disregard the applicable law or write new code during a permit adjudication. See City of Bellevue v. EBCC, 138 Wn.2d at 945 (the legislative intent was to delegate to community councils decision-making authority on discretionary matters). Following local land use law is not a matter of discretion. See Lund, 2 Wn. App. at 755; Evergreen State Builders, Inc., 9 Wn. App. at 977. In passing Resolution No. 550, the EBCC was not free to disregard it, rewrite the Comprehensive Plan and land use code, or ignore the facts (including undisputed facts) established by the Hearing Examiner. Because Resolution No. 550 suffered from all of these defects, the trial court's order approving it was erroneous and should be reversed.

1. Resolution No. 550 Exceeds EBCC's Authority

In Bellevue, "Electrical Facilities are allowed in all zones with a Conditional Use Permit," including those zones along PSE's proposed route. *See* AR 64; LUC 20.10.440 (utility facilities are permitted as a

conditional use in all zones). The Bellevue land use code authorizes PSE to construct overhead utility lines if the conditional use criteria are met. Yet, Resolution No. 550 *prohibits* transmission lines along the 148th corridor and requires PSE to meet CUP criteria not found in the land use code. *See* AR 3018-21 at ¶¶ 5, 9, 11, 14, 15. The EBCC was without authority to do so.

Under the Washington Growth Management Act ("GMA"), chapter 36.70A RCW, the EBCC can neither prohibit a permissible use nor add land use criteria during a permit review. The GMA provides that "[f]undamental land use planning decisions made in comprehensive plans and development regulations should not be revisited at the project level. During project review, the local government or any subsequent reviewing body shall not reexamine alternatives to or hear appeals on [select] planning decisions" including the "[t]ype of land use permitted at the site, including uses that may be allowed [as] conditional ... uses." WAC 365-197-070(2), (3)(a); see also RCW 36.70B.030(3). In other words, the GMA prohibits the EBCC from legislating a prohibition on the construction of utilities along the 148th Corridor or new conditional use criteria during the adjudication of a permit.

The EBCC could not avoid this prohibition by labelling 148th Avenue NE an "Urban Boulevard." See, e.g., AR 3019-20 at ¶¶ 9, 10, 11.

"Urban boulevards" are not defined in Bellevue's Comprehensive Plan or land use code. The Comprehensive Plan and the land use code nowhere say that transmission lines do not belong in "Urban Boulevards." The EBCC's claim that "*[o]bviously*, a major element of the Urban Boulevard is a lack of visible utilities, such as distribution and transmission wires" has no legal basis. AR 3019 at ¶ 9 (emphasis added); *see also id.* at ¶ 11 (referencing non-existent urban boulevard "criteria").

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