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

V.ARGUMENT 

A. EBCC's disapproval of the Project was in accordance with state 
law and should be upheld. 

I. The LUPA standard of review as applied to community council 
decisions. 

Under LUPA, the court of appeals "stands in the shoes of superior 

court and reviews the administrative decision on the record before the 

administrative tribunal, not the superior court record, reviewing the record 

and the questions of law de novo to determine whether the facts and law 

support the land use decision." Julian v. City of Vancouver, 161 Wn. App. 

614, 623, 255 P.3d 763, (2011). As the LUPA petitioner, PSE bears the 

burden of establishing error under at least one of LUPA' s six standards of 

review. Mower v. King Cnty., 130 Wn. App. 707, 712, 125 P.3d 148 ( 2005). 

PSE argues that the EBCC erred under four of the six LUPA 

standards of review, arguing EBCC 's decision is an erroneous interpretation 

of the law, RCW 36.70C.130(1)(b); unsupported by substantial evidence, 

RCW 36.70C.130(1)(c); a clearly erroneous application of the law to the 

6 See Correspondence with Court of Appeals, dated March 3, 2016; Emergency Motion 
for Relief under RAP 8.3 (filed Feb. 18 2016). 
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facts, RCW 36.70C.130(1)(d); and outside the EBCC's authority. RCW 

36.70C.130(1)(e). 

PSE abandons its argument under RCW 36.70C.130(1)(b) by failing 

to brief it. RAP 10.3(a)( 6); Kittitas County v. Kittitas County Conservation, 

176 Wn. App. 38, 54, 308 P.3d 745 (2013) ("Unsubstantiated assignments of 

error are deemed abandoned."). PSE fails to explain how the EBCC 

erroneously interpreted any specific language in the land use code, nor does 

PSE identify any ambiguity in the code's language that would permit this 

Court to defer to the City's interpretation of the code. Milestone Homes) Inc. 

v. City of Bonney Lake, 145 Wn. App. 118, 126, 186 P.3d 357 (2008) ("We 

apply an unambiguous ordinance according to its plain meaning; we 

construe only ambiguous ordinances."). In any event, in denying the 

conditional use permit, the EBCC did not interpret the law; the EBCC 

simply applied Bellevue 's land use code criteria to the permit before it. 

(a) The Court must determine whether the EBCC)s decision) not the 
Hearing Examiner )s or City Council )s) complies with State law. 

The application of LUPA's standards of review to a disapproval 

decision by a community municipal corporation is an issue of first 

impression in Washington State. There is an argument that LUPA does not 

even apply to the decisions of this type of municipal entity, which the EBCC 

raised below. See CP 616. But, the EBCC concedes that the legislature did 
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intend LUPA to supplant the old writ procedure as the exclusive means to 

review land use decisions, RCW 36.70C.030(1). Moreover, the standard of 

review under the writ process, Chapter 7.16 RCW, is largely the same. 

However, the EBCC does emphasize that another statute, in addition to 

LUPA, controls this case: Chapter 35.14 RCW. Accordingly, this court must 

interpret and apply the LUPA standards in a manner consistent with the 

legislature's command that community municipal corporations be the final 

decision makers within their territory. State ex rel. Peninsula Neighborhood 

Ass'n v. Dep't of Transportation, 142 Wn.2d 328, 342, 12 P.3d 134 (2000) 

("The construction of two statutes shall be made with the assumption that 

the Legislature does not intend to create inconsistency. Statutes are to be 

read together, whenever possible, to achieve a harmonious total statutory 

scheme ... maintain[ing] the integrity of the respective statutes.") (internal 

citation and quotation omitted). The need to harmonize the controlling 

statutes makes for a unique case in many respects. 

First, under state law, the decision reviewed by this court is squarely 

the EBCC's. LUPA provides for judicial review of local "land use 

decisions.,, RCW 36.70C.020 defines "land use decision" as "a final 

determination by a local jurisdiction's body or officer with the highest level 

of authority to make the determination, including those with authority to 
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hear appeals[.]" RCW 36.70C.020(2). By statute, the "final decision" rests 

with the EBCC for any land use decision enumerated in Chapter 35.14 

within its service area. RCW 35.14.040 (giving community councils 

authority to approve or disapprove certain land use ordinances and 

resolutions). See also LUC 20.35.365.C (decision of community council may 

be appealed to superior court under LUPA). The decision this court reviews 

is therefore not the hearing examiner's, and not the City Council's, but the 

EBCC's. See) e.g.) Quality Rock Products) Inc. v. Thurston County, 139 Wn. 

App. 125, 132, 159 P.3d 1 (2007) (court reviews decision of board, not 

hearing examiner, where that body "had the County's highest level of 

decision making authority."). 

Second, the presence of Chapter 35.14 in this case requires the court 

to defer to the EBCC 's findings, not the findings of the hearing examiner. 

PSE argues this court must view the facts in the light most favorable to the 

party who prevailed in the highest forum exercising fact finding authority, 

e.g., Peste v. Mason County, 133 Wn. App. 456, 477, 136P.3d140 (2006), and 

that this highest forum is the hearing examiner. Yet, "the scope and nature 

of an administrative appeal or review must be determined by the provisions 

of the statutes and ordinances which authorize them." Citizens to Preserve 

Pioneer Park LLC v. City of Mercer Island, 106 Wn. App. 461, 471-472, 24 
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P.3d 1079 (2001). Nothing in RCW 35.14.040(3) requires the EBCC to give 

deference to the hearing examiner, nor does Bellevue' s land use code 

require the EBCC to defer to the hearing examiner. See LUC 20.35.365; AR 

2929 (land use code does not specify EBCC 's burden of proof or standard 

of review). 

Moreover, nothing in RCW 35.14 or the City's land use code 

precludes the EBCC from making an independent determination based on 

the record. And in fact, the Washington Supreme Court has interpreted 

RCW 35.14.040 to authorize just such an independent review of city 

decisions. In City of Bellevue, 138 Wn.2d 937, the Supreme Court stated 

RCW 35.14.040 "provides a community council with authority to 

independently determine whether to approve or disapprove land use 

legislation . . . in keeping with the Legislature's intent to allow local level 

decision making.,, Id. at 945. 

Thus, requiring the EBCC, or the reviewing court, to defer to the 

hearing examiner would undermine the legislative intent of Chapter 35.14 

RCW. PSE would readily agree that as a community municipal corporation, 

the EBCC lacked the authority to participate in the hearing examiner 

proceedings. Given that EBCC did not, and could not, have participated in 

the forum where facts were found, affording deference to the hearing 
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examiner would prejudice the EBCC in contravention of its clear statutory 

grant of authority. 

Likewise, the court should not entertain the argument that EBCC's 

failure to appeal the MDNS somehow gives the conditions in the MDNS 

preclusive effect. Again, the EBCC has limited statutory authority, which 

does not include the ability to appeal an MDNS. PSE's assertion that the 

EBCC 's findings regarding traffic are an impermissible collateral attack on 

the MDNS, Br. of Appellant at 28-29, is legally incorrect. See Quality Rock 

Products) Inc. v. Thurston County, 139 Wn. App. 125, 159P.3d1 (2007) (" [N]o 

Washington court has held that a party must appeal a SEPA decision, such 

as an MDNS, to validate a challenge to the permit itself."). 

2. The EBCC's decision was supported by substantial 
evidence. 

Regardless of who deserves deference under the statutes at issue 

here, the EBCC's decision is supported by substantial evidence when 

"viewed in light of the whole record before the court." RCW 

36.70C.130(1)(c). "Under the substantial evidence standard, there must be 

a sufficient quantum of evidence in the record to persuade a reasonable 

person that the declared premise is true." Wenatchee Sportsmen Ass'n v. 

Chelan County, 141Wn.2d169, 176, 4 P.3d 123 (2000). 
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The EBCC 's findings support its ultimate determination that the 

proposed use was inconsistent with the comprehensive plan, inconsistent 

with the character of the area, and materially detrimental to the vicinity. As 

detailed at length in Sections IV.B-C of this brief, the record amply supports 

the questionable benefits and definite detriments of PSE's project. For 

example, the evidence in the record shows: 

• NE 8th and 148th are repeatedly referred to as tree-lined 
"urban boulevards." AR 562; AR 242-244; AR 2014; AR 
675; AR 687; AR 796. See also City of Bellevue 
Comprehensive Plan, Urban Design Element, Map UD-1 
and Policy UD-69 (describing design for "key city 
boulevards"). 

• Currently, the only visible utilities on the sections of NE 8th 
and 148th Ave. at issue here are light poles. AR 1731. 

• PSE 's transmission line would cross from the west to the east 
side of 148th Avenue three times, increasing the visual 
impact of the line. AR 93-95. 

• Photo-simulations of the proposed line show the 
inconsistency between the existing streetscape and the 
proposed power lines. AR 58-62. 

• The staff report, relied on and incorporated by the hearing 
examiner, itself acknowledges that tree loss impacts "a major 
visual amenity along public roadways and open spaces." AR 
89. 

• Thousands of motorists use 148th Ave each day, and the 
project would take four to six months to complete. AR 553; 
AR 889; AR 2308. 
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The evidence in the record also supports EBCC 's finding that the 

PSE engineer overstated the reliability benefits of the project. AR 2995; 

3018. It is undisputed that the SE 16th Street portion of the project cannot 

be completed until some unspecified future date. AR 24-25. The staff 

report, which the hearing examiner relied on, omits PSE's earlier warnings 

about the reliability deficits associated with colocation. And the Exponent 

report and alternative siting analysis relied on by the hearing examiner, AR 

2180-2181, do not compel different findings. In fact: 

• The alternative siting analysis describes the negative impact 
of co-locating on SE 16th Street.7 

• The alternative siting analysis does not discuss the three 
pole-mounted switches to be used at 148th and SE 16th in the 
approved project, or analyze the benefits of building the loop 
in a piecemeal fashion. AR 1732. 

• The Exponent report identifies a line between Lake Hills and 
Phantom Lake substations as "needed to supply these two 
substations from two directions", but does not propose or 
analyze any particular routes or the compromised project. 
AR 1830. 

• As described above in Section IV.B(1)(a) of this Brief, PSE's 

own representatives stated that co-locating a line along SE 

16th Street on existing poles would compromise reliability 

and "defeat the purpose" of the project. CP 138; AR 749. 

7 AR1732 ("Locating a new transmission line on the north side of SE 16th Street would 
result in approximately Yi mile of double circuiting, which impacts system reliability. If an 
accident results in the loss of a pole and a transmission outage in this area, both lines feeding 
the Phantom Lake Substation would be affected."). 
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3. The EBCC's decision was not a "clearly erroneous 
application of the law to the facts." 

PSE has also failed to establish that the EBCC 's decision was a 

"clearly erroneous application of the law to the facts" under RCW 

36.70C.130(1)(d). The clearly erroneous standard is only met if the court is 

"left with a definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been 

committed." Cingular Wireless) LLC v. Thurston County, 131 Wn. App. 756, 

768, 129 P.3d 300 (2006). The superior court, after careful consideration, 

concluded the EBCC committed no such "fatally erroneous interpretation 

or application of the law," and this Court should agree. CP 497. 

Contrary to PSE 's assertions, the EBCC did not create new criteria 

or commit actions beyond the authority of a community municipal 

corporation. Instead, the EBCC disagreed with the hearing examiner and 

city council as to the application of the law to the facts. This is not error 

under LUPA; on the contrary, it was well within the EBCC's authority. 

The case law and statutory scheme fully support EBCC's ability to 

determine mixed questions of fact and law in the manner in which it did. In 

Citizens to Preserve Pioneer Park LLC, 106 Wn. App. 461, the city council 

disagreed with the planning commission as to whether a pole to be installed 

was a "material detriment" to the public welfare. Although the planning 
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commission had acted as the fact finder, the Court upheld the city council's 

decision reversing the planning commission, concluding the decision 

involved legal questions or mixed questions of law and fact. 

The major areas in which the city council differed from the 
planning commission revolved around the meaning and 
application of the variance criteria. Such disputes, as 
contrasted to disagreement about "raw facts", present either 
questions of law, or mixed questions of fact and law. An 
example of a mixed question of fact and law is whether the 
visual impact of a monopole is so great as to constitute a 
material detriment to the public welfare. The city council 
could properly conclude, based on its own review of the 
pictures, maps and testimony in the record, as summarized 
by the planning commission's findings as to underlying facts, 
that in view of the entire record, there was insufficient 
evidence that the visibility of the pole constituted a 
detriment to public welfare. 

Id. at 473 (internal citations omitted). Likewise, here, the disagreement is 

not about the "raw facts" like how many trees would need to be removed or 

the height of the poles to be installed. Rather, the EBCC properly concluded, 

based on its review of the record, that the project did not comply with the 

very broad and discretionary CUP criteria. 

Again, a CUP cannot be granted if doing so would violate the 

comprehensive plan, and the comprehensive plan contains numerous 

policies with which the PSE project is inconsistent. See AR 560. 

Comprehensive Plan policy UT-45 required PSE to avoid "locating 
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overhead lines in greenbelt and open spaces[.]" AR 239. The project would 

clearly locate an overhead transmission line in a greenbelt. Policy UT-53 

requires "utility equipment support facilities to be aesthetically compatible 

with the area in which they are placed by using landscape screening and/or 

architecturally compatible details and integration." AR 240. 

PSE repeatedly contends that EBCC ignored the "balancing of 

competing objectives" among comprehensive plan polices in the hearing 

examiner and City staff recommendations, Brief of Appellant at 24-25, 

pointing out that staff struck a "balance" between the competing objectives 

of the comprehensive plan. As City planner Sally Nichols testified at 

hearing: 

In the case of this particular project it's really a case of 
balancing objectives. Obviously the first objective is to 
provide reliable electrical service to underserved geographic 
areas to meet the need of not only today but also the future. 
And then that has to be balanced against the city's vision of 
Bellevue as a city in the park and the protection of our 
ecological resources. 

Certified Appeal Board Record, Transcript of Nov. 20, 2015 hearing at 26 

(Sub. No. 39). The EBCC wholeheartedly agrees that the decision whether 

to grant the CUP was a balancing act. But the EBCC did not "ignore" staff's 

balancing; it struck a different balance. That was squarely within its 

authority. 
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Finally, PSE contends that the Lake Hills Reliability Project is 

specifically identified in the comprehensive plan, suggesting that this means 

the project as conceived is automatically compatible. Brief of Appellant at 

22. But Utilities Element Figure UT Sa merely identifies areas on a map of 

the City deemed "sensitive sites." AR 1720. The comprehensive plan does 

not contain a specific approval of any particular route. 

4. Because the EBCC's decision was clearly within its 
statutory authority, PSE's remedy is with the legislature, 
not the courts. 

PSE couches its appeal in terms of LUPA standards and municipal 

code provisions. Yet, the fundamental basis of PSE's argument is that the 

EBCC cannot - and should not - have the power to disapprove its project. 

AR 2972-3015. Such a premise is flatly inconsistent with the will of the 

legislature. 

PSE essentially argues that the EBCC has virtually no role in land 

use decisions, and can only rubber stamp the decisions of the City Council 

where there is room for the exercise of discretion. PSE grossly misconstrues 

both the text of Chapter 35.14 RCW and applicable case law. The plain 

language of Chapter 35.14 RCW evinces the legislature's intent that annexed 

neighborhoods retain control over local land use decisions. See City of 

Bellevue, 138 Wn.2d at 945-46 (rejecting City's argument that EBCC could

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